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A. ldonot. Like | didn't even know he was there until after
they took her, sitting in the ambulance.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. And like they were all yelling at me, "What'd you do?
What'd you do?" And | -- | said, "l don't know. | don't know."

Q. So when you get blacked out like this normally, what -- what
is the normal trigger for that?

A. Why do | drink so heavy to get to that state?

Q. No. Like what is that level for you? Like at what point do
you get to that level usually? You know, are we talking about half a
bottle of vodka, a full bottle? What are we talking about?

A. Maybe a couple pints, probably. Well, | used to be a big
drinker, then like last couple of years |'ve been on those pills. So | still
think 1 can drink that way, and | can't.

Q. And that pill makes you sick when you drink, right?

A. Yeah. If -- you have to come off of it for like a couple weeks
or you -- violently ill is what they told me.

Q. Yeah.

A. It could be a placebo, but | ain't --

Q. No. I've -

A. I'mscaredto --

Q. [I've seen people fucked up bad. Yeah. It's pretty bad. So
what's your relationship with like -- with Victoria's kids?

A. Me and Yessenia, | -- we were real ciose, you know. She --

Victoria would always called her my minion 'cause she'd always have
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 33
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my mannerisms and everything. We -- we did lots of stuff. We always
went to the park and we always -- we had a real good strong bond.

Dwight, not so much ‘cause he's rubbed me the wrong way from
first impressions. He hit my kid with a rock, and cut his eye like the day
before pictures in school. And | kind of had, you know, animosity ever
since then where | just try to find what he does wrong and point it out. |
don't know. He (incomprehensible) -- he's not that bad of a kid. He's
just a terrible sportsman and he's a know-it-all that doesn't know shit is
the way | explain him. | try to tell him how to do his homework, you
know, this is wrong. How is that wrong, my teacher said this is right,
biah, blah, blah. And just, well, (incomprehensible) you caim down, and
it is wrong 'cause it's wrong. You know --

Q. Yeah.

A. --fixit. Sol--1stayed away from him. You know, | don'
do any discipline with him or anything like that.

The -- the oldest daughter, things were getting better. She -- she
got real weird when | first started coming around. And she didn't
understand why her last dad and her didn't -- Victoria didn't work out.
And it was, you know, grown people talking.

Q. Yeah.

A. She didn't even know it. And she was real weird towards
me at first, and then things got a little bit better as time went on.

Q. And you said you didn't discipline Dwight ever then?

A. Uh-uh.

Q. How did that go in the house to not discipline a kid in the
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 34
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house?

A. If she wants it, she would do the discipline on him. And she
done them a couple times, running his mouth, but --

Q. Well, did --

A. | mostly --

Q. What was your feel on why you wouldn't discipline him?
Like what was the thought process going on?

A. |--1told her, | said | don't want to hit the kid ‘cause | think |
won't stop, you know. And | think | was just trying to put the fear in him
a little bit.

Q. Yeah.

A. You know, let him -- ‘cause | told him personally that's the
reason | haven't done it.

Q. Hmm.

A. ldon't know. Ithink he hits -- hurts him most taking video
games away from him --

Q. Uh-huh.,

A. --and--

Q. Yeah. Most kids nowadays.

A. Yeah. And like his phone. Take that away from him, make
him go upstairs, and be in the room, you know. And that was more of
my thing with him. And I'd make him do ali the chores. | mean
(incomprehensible) supposed to split the chores with the boys, I'd make
him do all of it, especially the dog shit. So that was my way of --

Q. Gotcha.
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 35
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A. Yeah.

Q. What about the daughter? Your -- your youngest. What
was hername? Yessenia, right?

A. Yessenia.

Q. What was like discipline for her? Three year olds
sometimes are a little sassy so --

A. Theydo. The (incomprehensible) and the last time |
spanked her was her mom told her, you know, if you do this, then Big

Cole's going to come home and spank you. And -- and she did that

thing --
Q. What'd she call you?
A. BigCole.
Q. Oh.
A. Big Cole, Little Cole.
Q. Oh. Yeah. I'm real quick. Okay.
A. Or Big Cole's going to come over and, you know, spank you

if you do it, and she did it. So | got home, and I gave her a good bad --
I'm heavy-handed, you know. And | said, "I don't want to hit this kid
anymore. You know?" | said -- so | started coming up with alternatives
where I'd make her sit on the wall, you know, and -- one of the

detectives calls it an invisible chair. | mean, you know --

Q. Yeah.

A. --the tactic --

Q. Squat.

A. -- acid starts building up, and it -- it hurts like a son-of-a-

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 36
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bitch after a while. And ! -- | picked that up from a seventh grade math
teacher. He used to catch all the kids running. One day he caught me

running, made me sit on the wall, and | just -- | could stitl remember it.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. You know, it had to be 25 years ago.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. So I'd make her do stuff like that and make her sit in a plank

position until -- then I'd make her put up one leg, hold that out, and put
that one down, put the other one up. And | started doing more things
like that with her. You know, one time she hit my son with a golf ball on
his foot, like slammed the golf ball on him. | said, "What foot was it?*
So she told me which one it was. So I made her stick out that foot as
long as she could, you know, sitting on the stairs straight out. You
know, you -- a couple minutes in and it gets a nice bum.

Q. (Incomprehensibie.)

A. Yeah. She -- and she hated it.

Q. Was she usually responsive to their discipling?

A. Yeah. Yeah. |think she was all right. She'd cry like a --
you know, some of them --

Q. Right.

A. --you know, even really before she'd even have to do it.
You know, she tried to cry her way out of it, and I'll let her ¢ry. You
know, you cry all you want and --

Q. When you were talking about the shower, what -- what is

the story with why she doesn't want water on her face? Do you know?
Viam Transcription LLC (702} 260-9332 37
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A. She's always hated water in her face.

Q. So does she nomnally take baths instead of showers or --

A. Sometimes. |--|won't give her a bath ‘cause | don't really
that time.
Q. Right.

A. Like sometimes she's -- she's okay. | think she has to be
wamned that it's coming. But if it just gets her in the face then they just -
- a nightmare.

Q. Well, in this instance to the best of your recollection, you
were giving her a shower and she got water in her face.

A. Yeah. | guess.

Q. You said, right?

A. She -- | think she had dirt in her hair so | -- | just went right
at it, and didn't give her a warning or anything, and then she was trying
to bail out of there.

Q. So what does she actually do? I mean | -- | haven't seen
that shower. What does -- like is it a stall, is it a --

A. [It's this --

Q. --abathtub or--

A. --tinystall. Yeah. It's -- it -- | can barely fit in it.

Q. Well, what does she actually do when -- like when that
happened, what -- what happened that night? What is -- what is her
reaction when the water gets in her face?

A. It's screaming and, | think, maybe she tried and run out to

get a towel, maybe. But she's trying to get out of there, and -- and that
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 38

0403



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

#17NY-1964

shower is real slippery on the (incomprehensible) so she -- she went
down a few times. She also can't stand cold water. You know, she
was crying it was too hot, and 1 went down too far. Then she did it
again when -- trying to get out of there 'cause it was just too cold for
her. So those are the two things that she's -- she loses it.

Q. So when you put her in it, it was too hot. She says it's too
hot so you made it cold. That made it worse because she doesn't like
cold water either, and it went all the way cold?

A. Yeah. She hates coldest the most.

Q. And so she's trying to get out, meaning she's like -- | mgan
you're in the doorway, right?

A, Yeah.

Q. (Incomprehensible.) So how was she actually going to like
try to get out?

A. 'Cause she's like -- just like running and play like a cartoon.
You know, like -

Q. And you were just holding her? Just --

A. | wasn't even touching her at first. So she's slipping, like her
feet went out from underneath her. Like she racked her ribs on maybe
like, you know, how the door comes up and keep the water from coming
out. Hit that area. And then tha second time she just kind of like
slipped and like hit from back to back on the -- on --against the wall
that's on the other side of the door.

Q. And then you said at some point you demonstrated like

putting your foot up to --
Viam Transcription LLC (702) 260-9332 39
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A. Yeah. Yeah.

Q. Then what -- what was that in response to?

A. Justher trying to get out as well, you know. The thing when
she got up from all that, she's still trying to go. I'm like -- | was, you
know, get back in there, and I'll tum it up, and stuff like that.

Q. Okay. And then where'd it go from there? What -- what do
you remember next?

A. ldon't.

Q. That's the last thing you remember?

A. Yeah. | don't -- like | said, | don't -- | don't even remember
if | washed her hair in there. [ know | wetted it. | don't remember drying
her off 'cause usually when | dry her off, | put her up on the counter and
get her going, get her lotion 'cause she needs lotion every day, and
slather her up (incomprehensibie). | told that to the female detective
that came on the scene. She went, and took pictures, and looked it,
and she said there's no feetprint (verbatim) out there or anything like
that so | don't -- | don't know what was done.

Q. Do you have a guesstimate on time frame from when mom
left to when you put her in the shower?

A. It seemed like it was relatively quick. Like [ said, we just
went outside and | smoked a cigarette. It wasn't that long. So maybe
ten minutes there, then right inside. So it was -- whenever she left, it
had to be within a half-hour.

Q. So--so I'm listening to your story. Obviously, | don't know

anything about it. But -- so over the years what | find in these
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 40
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circumstances is if someone has a lapse of memory or, like what like
you're saying where you don't remember what happened after that, that
traditionally happens after what | call the critical moment. So the
moment where you say, oh fuck, that's traditionally where people -- it's
a -- it's a safety mechanism. If you think about real life when you have
a bad situation, what do we want to do? We want to try to forget it,
right? We build up a wall. And so traditionally what -- what we see
happen is you have a critical moment or where Cole says, fuck, this is
not good; and then memory after that sometimes is, you know, minimai
if --if existent. And then listening 1o your story about the -- before that
pant, | would say that it sounds like that encounter in the shower was
probably substantially more dramatized than it sounds sitting here
tatking to you and I. | mean would -- would you agree? | mean that's
the part you remember. So --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- would you agree that it's a -- it was just a violent mayhem
going on in there?

A. It - it wasn't that bad, like the parts | remember. | don't
know if it got amped up maybe after the fact. Like | said, | don't even
remember pulling her out of the shower so | don't know anything --

Q. So --so I mean -- and by no means am | a fortune teller so
don't -- don't take what I'm going to say as a fortune teller. But in terms
of experience of this, this story you're telling me sounds consistent with
her injuries. So it would be venture to -- my guess that she didn't come

out of that shower conscious just based on her injuries and based on
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 41
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the story you're telling me. That that is probably where she went
unconscious based on the injuries to her head, the bruising that you
saw. That would all be consistent with -- with something like that where
you just finally got, you know, pissed or -- for lack of a beiter term,
pissed, and that that was just the -- the mechanism in that shower. You
know what | mean?

A. Yeah. Yeah. | --

Q. And if you found her unconscious, obviously --

A. Uh-huh,

Q. --in the shower, that would be what | would call that critical
-- you know, if she just went down, that would be that critical point in
where your memory -- it would make sense that you didn't remember
that afterwards. You know what I'm saying?

A. |don't know if - | don't know if she came unconscious then |
found her again later on if | went to sleep --

Q. Right.

A. --andgotup. Then--
(incomprehensible.)
Because there is a big gap between that shower --

Yeah. You're forgetting a whole -- whole bulge of it.

> 0 > 0

Yeah,

Q. Now, mom says you called 911. She was already home
when you called the paramedics, correct?

A. | don't believe so.

Q. Oh. |thought that -- | might have written down bad info.
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 42
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A. |think | -- | think | was on the phone with her first, and then
she said to call the paramedics. | think 1 got right off the phone and
called the paramedics right after that. She might have been there. | -- |
don't remember who arrived first.

Q. Okay. And obviously you saw the pictures. What -- what
do you think when you see those pictures? What does --

A. It's sickening and -- and -- like | was expecting some -- so
much different from just listening to the -- the female detective, you
know. And -- and I thought maybe | had like choked her when we were
laying down or something, the way she made it seem. And that's why |
thought she lost -- then to see that, it -- it blew my mind 'cause | couldn't
-- | don't remember a single strike.

Q. So -- and the strike part you're getting 'cause you're looking
at those bruises and you're thinking that must be somebody striking
her?

A. Well, it's 'cause --

Q. s that kind of what you're --

A. The way it was presented towards me is that my girl was
abused, and it looks -- it looks bad.

Q. Well, yeah. And you saw. You have to --

A. Yeah.

Q. --agree it does look bad.

A. ltdoes.

Q. But-- so forinstance -- | mean you're a big boy, she's a little

girl. 1f she's fighting to get out of cold water, and you're fighting to keep
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 43
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her in the shower, and she's hitting her head and falling on whatever
else -- | don't know what's in your shower, but there's traditionally things
in the shower, and a shelf, and a door frame, and things like that --
certainly injuries can occur in that situation without a strike.

A. Yeah.

Q. You know. If --if you -- what do you weigh, 300 pounds?

A. 1'm about 350.

Q. So I mean if you're weighing 350 pounds, take a three-year-
old and push her back into the shower, whether you punched her or you
threw her back into the shower, the bfunt force doesn't necessarily
change.

A. Yeah.

Q. Do you know what I'm saying? And I'm not saying the
detectives are wrong for insinuating that it looks like punches. But for
sure if you're punching someone or if you're picking her up and
throwing her into the shower, you know, then that -- that isn't
necessarily going to change the -- the (incomprehensible) of injury --

A. Yeah.

Q. --that much.

A. Yeah. And like -- | mean | wasn't -- | got drifled by, you
know, Cox and them the other day, and | was like, you know, like it's
not going to change. | wish | could tell you more. | -- | would love, you
know, to clear it up for everybody. | wish | could say, hey, you know |
did take this when she did this, and | did that to her and -- but | can't. |

can't sit here honestly and tell you what happened 'cause | don't
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 44
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remember hitting her.
Q. Uh-huh.
A. ldon't
Q. And the whole pushing part in the shower, | mean do you --

do you have a memory of the force that you used for that?

A. I--1couldn't tell you. | couldn't really tell you. | don't know
if she bounced off or anything, or if she slipped. [ -- | don't really
remember,

Q. And do you remember her crying and screaming during it?

A. (Incomprehensible) she was pretty much crying and
screaming the whole time 'cause she gets really worked up with the
water in her face and the cold water. So there was a lot of crying.

Q. Do you ever put cold water on her as a form of punishment?

A. |have.

Q. And what does she normally do in reaction to that?

A. She usually just more cowers into a ball and complains

about it.
Q. Soin this instance was it different in terms of her reaction?
A. lguess--
Q. It doesn't sound like she cowered at ail.
A. No. She was more -- she wanted to get out of it.

Q. Do you know like why? Why different this time versus the
last time?
A. Maybe 'cause she didn't know it was coming maybe with the

-- the punishment part.
Viam Transcription LLC (702) 260-9332 45
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So the punishment part --

I'll let her --

-- you tell her ahead of time?
Yeah.

That you're going to --

Yeah.

What is it that's (incomprehensible)?

You're going to act this way, you're going to get this.

s it like a set amount of time or what is the --
| make her count to five.

While you're pouring the water on her?
Uh-huh.

Is it normally like in the shower or --

It is.

You --

Okay. So you like say go in the shower, you're going to do

and then the punishment (incomprehensible).

five saconds of cold water, and you turn it on for five seconds, and --

It's usually something happens in the shower where | was

Oh.

-- if you're going to act that way, you're going to get this, you

know, and then [ just -- | hit her with it (incomprehensible).

And she normmally just lays down and counts to --
Yeah.

-- five?

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332
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Just trying to get out of the -- the spray of it.
So was the cold water this time, was that a punishment?
| don't believe so. 1 think it was just too hot at one point.

Just went past (incomprehensible).

> 0 » 0 »

Just went too far. Right. Like [ said -- and there was a lot of
vodka involved, and then it's -- hundred proof vodka is not normal.

Q. So when Victoria comes in here -- you can imagine what
Victoria's life is like right now.

A. Oh, I know. | know and -~

Q. She -- she's going to demand some answers from you, and
I'm going to make sure I'm in here because | anticipate when you tell
her you have no answers that -- | don't anticipate that's going to go over
well with her. Just my guess. | mean | don't know for a fact, but that's
my guess.

A. Well, she put a -- a nice combination on me the other day,
you know, when -- it was when -- | felt the pain, you know, and like |
understand --

Q. You mean the day that this happened?

A. Yeah.

Q. She punch you?

A. Yeah. You know, she kept on asking what -- what i did and
} couldn't tell her.  couldn't give her an answer 'cause | don't know.

Q. And you can imagine if this were Cole.

A. |know.

Q. You canimagine --
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No. | been --

-- your grief that -- that --

> 0 »

Yeah.

Q. --you would be feeling and your demand for answers
(incomprehensible).

A. |'ve been in a suicide cell for, you know, a day-and-a-half
and -- or maybe a day. And that's all | have is time with my thoughts.
And especially with a TV behind the -- the chairs,

Q. Desk. Yeah.

A. PAW Palrol keeps on -- every commercial, you know, and
that was her favorite show. So, you know, it's just a constant reminder,
and | have nothing but time to think about --

Q. Yeah.

A. (Incomprehensible.)

Q. What do you -- what do you base your discipline on in your
mind? Like, you know, we normally have parents that have taught us,
and we've learned our (incomprehensible). What do you base that on?
Like where -- where would you have gotten the -- the planking? | mean
you told me the sitting on the wall was the seventh grader. But the cold
water and stuff, where -- is that just something that you've decided was
effective or --

A. Yeah. Like with the cold water -- and, like | said, | knew it
upsets her so | know -- using that method probably once or twice. |
think her mom might have gave her a cold shower once, and | think |

picked up on it from there. Then | saw how -- how true it was.
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Q. How responsive it was.

A. Yeah. And so -- when the planking stuff, | just -- like | said, |
didn't want to spank her no more 'cause the last time | did it she kind of
like rolled over when | came in the room so | gave her -- | tagged her
pretty good. And where her mom was supposed to spank her with a
belt too, but that was part of the deal, and her mom just pulled up the
pants and that was enough, you know. That was pretty much the -- |
wasn't going to spank her no more after that.

Q. Just because it was so dramatic?

A. And just you could tell, you know, and you can -- the slap,
you can hear it, you know, and it was just -- it was too much.

Q. So you nomally did a bare butt instead of through the pants

then?

A. Yeah.

Q. Was that just because it was more effective that way than
through the padding or --

A. just think how | was raised. Uh-huh. More of a bare ass is
more effective way. Yeah. | think that Victoria would leave the pants
on. She's more that type.

Q. Looking back, what do you think you could have done
different in this whole relationship situation? What can -- what could we
have done to not be here?

A. | could have stayed on that fucking pill, you know.

Q. So you think this is solely alcohol-related?

A. ltis. Like | -- when | saw those pictures, there's no way
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being sober | can be that upset. And, you know, if those are all strikes
from me or whatever. Just looking at that, that night, there's no way.
Sober, | can't get that upset.

Q. So Victoria told the detectives that when you get drunk,
normally you're a happy drunk. You're one to -- one to laugh, you're
kind of like a class clown. What would be --

A. In a social -- social situation.

Q. What would be different when you're home alone with --
with the baby?

A. |couldn' -- you know, all | want to do is get a little buzz just
to fay down and go to bed. That's all | really wanted. | don't know -- but
when I'm -- when I'm out and try to get everybody to laugh, you know,
that's -- that's different than being one-on-one with a kid too so --

Q. Uh-huh.

A. Well, you know, I'm not going to try to --

Q. is she normally like the type of kid that's not going to let you
sleep? | mean I've worked graves. That sucks when your kids are --

A. Yeah.

Q. --climbing on you, and turning the lights on, and alf --

A. Nah, She -

Q. --that shil. Is that normally what she's like?

A. She got a lot better. Like me and my mom both worked on
her. She -- she wouldn't take any naps like previous to me coming
around, and 1 couldn't believe it, you know, but -- you know, this kid will

be a lot better if you gave her some naps. So every time | had to watch
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her | made sure [ put her down. And the first, you know, ten times was

kind of a nightmare. Her screaming nonsense. But after that you pretty

much just tel! her, all right, it's nap time.

Q.

o > 0 >

Uh-huh.

And she knows to go.

And she was okay with that?
Yeah.

If | were to get you a -- a semi-similar-sized doll, would you

be able to demonstrate the force that -- in the shower the best to your

memory?
A.
Q.

A,

1 don't think so.
You don't think you'll remember that at all?

Uh-huh. | don't remember. '‘Cause [ kind of like do this with

my toe. | don't know -- | don't know if it was -- he might have been a

midget kick for, you know -- but | don't believe so. But | just remember -

- there's a couple things.

Q.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.

You remember using your foot to -- to contain --
Yeah.

-- her in the shower?

Yeah.

Why did you not just let her out? Just 'cause you were

trying to be in charge or because --

A
Q.
A.

| think --
-- you had a purpose?

-- she wasn't done, | -- | believe. 1 don't -- like | said, | can't
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remember if § even washed her hair or not. And when she went head
over heels, you know, that she was -- she was dirty.

Q. So head over heels -- so you said it's a small -- it's like a
stall shower? Like a box? Like the -- the tall ones.

A. Oh. Well, [ was -- | was talking on the chair --

Q. Oh.

A. --toin the dirt.
Q. Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. So when you were talking about her slipping in the shower
though, that's -- the floor is wet, basically.

A. Yes.

Q. And she's trying to get out, you were irying to keep her in;
and she just would fall to the ground, or was she falling and hitting the
wall, or what is she doing?

A. Like she would hit the wall in the back end one --

Q. Uh-huh,

A. --time. Then she fell and hit the -- the little raised area.
Q. And that's where you said that was her ribs you thought.
A. Yeah.

Q. Did that.

A.

It looked like it was more on the side (incomprehensible).
Q. And when she fell and hit the wall, what part of her hit that
wall? Do you remember?

A. Probably her back. 1think she went back to back with it.
Viam Transcription LLC (702} 260-9332 52
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Q. Okay. And was that -- those were the only two instances
where she hit a wall or was it kind of like the whole time back and forth
fighting to keep her in or --

A. |think it was only two | can really recall. | don't know. |
don't know how hard it hit any of it. | don't -- | don't recall. 1 just
(incomprehensible) --

Q. Do you remember your feelings about it?

A. No. ljustdon'tthink - I'm just used to it, you know. | don't
think | was upset about it.

Q. Didn't make you angry?

A. [don't believe so. But maybe with the -- the booze in me
and -- and maybe it did. And --

Q. And you -- you told Detective Fernandes initially, you know,
something to the effect of it's my fauit; | don't remember what
happened, but | can't believe | did this; or | destroyed lives or --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- some quote like that. When you -- when you make a
statement like that, is that -- what is that based on? |s that based on
your memory, based on the fact that you knew you were the only one
home? What are you basing that on?
| was the only one home.

So you knew what -- you were her sole caregiver.
Yeah.

Obviously, so regardless {incomprehensible).

> 0 » 0 »

Regardless, it was on my watch and something happened,
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you know, and -- but like -- like | said, nobody's going to break in, and
just --

Q. No.

A. --do that, and not take nothing, and that would be on the
way so -- and | don't think Dwight would do anything like that. { think
he's a little teo young for it so --

Q. When -- when you're talking about her crying basically the
whole time in the shower, was there a point that you remember that she
stopped crying?

A. No. ldon't. | don't remember,

Q. Okay. Okay. Anything else you do remember that | haven't
asked you about?

A. No. No. And now, like | said, there's -- there's that big gap
from the shower to --

Q. To Victoria coming in.

A. Yeah. Like -- | don't - like | said, { don't know if | was
asleep and got up or if that's just when | snapped out of that -- the panic
scare, you know, get you sober, you know. | don't know what
happened. | thought that | got up to go to the bathroom, but | don't -~ 1
don't -- | can't hold if that's true or not ‘cause -- like | said, | was
dreaming a lot about this stuff too so | don't know which is reality
anymore.

Q. Hmm.

A. |thought | -- | thought we went to go lay down after the

shower, but maybe that was just what the plan was supposed to be.
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Maybe | did and left her there. | don't -- | couldn't tell you.

Q. Okay. Are you going to be able to deal with Victoria?

A. Yeah. 'l be all right.

Q. Don't anticipate that it will be pleasant.

A. I'm--1won't. Butl've been wanting to talk to her anyways,
and | -- | wasn't going to call her or anything like that. So kind of glad
this is going to happen. | just lost the love of my life. You know, like --
like I said, I've ruined a lot of people's lives and {incomprehensible).

Q. Hopefully at the end of this you don't drink anymore.

A. No. No. Not on - I'll stay on that pill religiously.
{Incomprehensible.}

Q. Allright. We'll deal. Let me go grab her. Wouid you --
would you feel more comfortable or less comfortable with me in here?

A. It doesn't matter. | don't -- | don't --

Q. You don't think it'il change anything?

A. No. | wouldn't -- | don't think -- and if -- if she gels violent,
then I'll iet her be all violent. Like | --

Q. I'mnot going to let her get violent like that, All right. Let me
go grab her, and I'll be right back. All right?

A. Getting old.

(Lieutenant Boruchowitz leaves the interview room.)
LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Going off the record at
2000 hours.
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STATE OF NEVADA ) DATE: 07/16/17
) SS: PAHRUMP

COUNTY OF NYE ) TIME: 8:01 p.m.

This audio interview of COLE ENGELSON did hereby take place
at the Nye County Detention Center, 1521 East Siri Lane, Pahrump,

Nevada, in reference case #17NY-1964.

Person present during this interview is COLE ENGELSON.
Person conducting the interview is LIEUTENANT DAVID
BORUCHOWITZ, P#72816, of the Nye County Sheriff's Office. Also
present is VICTORIA SCHLICK. Transcription of audio statement

prepared by Amber Tubbs of Viam Transcription LLC.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: 2001, grabbing mom,
bringing her back in.
{Lieutenant Boruchowitz exits the jail.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right. You ready for
this?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: No.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Okay. So, first of all, |
got to wam you of two things. Do not touch him, okay? And | know that
he says you hit him at the scene when you were frustrated with him.

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 1
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: | --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Don't -- don't put
yourself in jail 'cause --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Uh-huh,

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- it's a mandatory
arrest, okay?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | understand.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Second of all, you're on
camera in there. He knows he's on camera. I'm going to go in with
you. I'm going to give him a warning that -- to remember that anything
he says to you has the same -- 'cause -~ because technically you could

VICTORIA SCHLICK: He's -- yeah.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- be construed as our
agent. So I'm going to make sure he understands that and that'll it be
used against him. 1 can tell you that | don't think he's an honest person.
| don't know enough about him and his blackouts to know what
allegedly -- what he actually could -- you know, could black out and --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: |just --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- could not black out,
but --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | just keep thinking like after this
like everything's in the past and what | could have noticed like from her
-- like the fall when he called me and | had to come home from work

because of her busted chin.
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LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Uh-huh.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: He was giving her a shower that
day too. But | asked him to give her a shower ‘cause she had wet the
bed.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: So he says he punishes
her by putting her in cold water in the shower. Are you aware of that?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: He told me he did that once, and |
said that wasn't necessary. I've done it once and then 1 felt bad about
it. But she was to the point, how | told you -- | don't know if | told you or
that other officer, like she cried so hard one day she gave herself
petechia on her -- on her ears and underneath her eyes that -- ‘cause
she was crying until she couldn't breathe. She was just tired and -- so
like | kind -- 1 just -- to calm her down, | was like | just stuck her in the
shower and -- just to get her caimed down. | caimed her down, but |
told him like | don't agree with that. And every time he's punished her,
he's always called me and told me what's happened.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: I'm going to guess that -
- and I'm just telling you a speculation. We'll never know until we get to
-- to our maker. But I'm going to speculate everything that happened to
her happened in the shower from the story he's telling me.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | wanted to tell you --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | know.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: -- you guys had found -- | looked in
the shower and that soap on a rope that's on the fioor, that was hanging

with the rope still attached because | took a shower. That was still -- it
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was -- and you know how hard it is to pull that rope of that bar, and the
rope and the bar are not connected anymore. So | don't know if you
want to go to the house and grab that.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | may have Detective
Parra follow you back there and grab that.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah. Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: But | don't think there's
any question from his story that that's what happens. Sounded like he
put her in some hot water in the shower first, and then she was
desperately trying to get out, and he put her in cold water. And then he
basically tells a story about how she fell all over the shower trying to get
out, and he kept her in the shower and wouldn't let her out. It's his
casual rendition of what happened. But | think, you know, based on her
injuries that that's probably the whole -- the whole crime scene. Like |
don't think -- [ don't anticipate that, you know, he took her out of the
shower and went and did something to her, | think he had this whole
(incomprehensible) --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: You think that -- | mean | don't --
s0 did she like -- from her injuries, did she just go to sleep and then
pass away? | don't --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: No one will ever know
for sure s0 --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Did they -- | mean --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: You know it's really

speculative. She has a serious brain injury from the -- the biunt force
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trauma to the head. The hope --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- is that that -- that that
makes you unconscious and obviously that you wouldn't feel
subsequent pain. There's no way to know, and -- and | don't lie to
people and try to make you feel better by saying she feit nothing. The
truth of the matter is what matters is she doesn't feel anything now. But

it was probably not pleasant no matter -- no matter how you look at it or

what --
VICTORIA SCHLICK: He knows.
LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- what he did.
VICTORIA SCHLICK: Can | see her when they're done
with the autopsy?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yep. She'll be going
back to the mortuary. She probably already is back there and | -- yeah.
You can go down there and -- and see her. Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: So -- and then we'l
know a lot more. They send -- so what they do is they cut portions of
the tissue behind a bruise out, and it basically tells them what's the
force, how long, you know, was that bruise there. So they'll know --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- more. That takes a
couple weeks, but --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Did he say he bit her?
Viam Transcription LLC  {702) 260-9332 5
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lLIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Nah. He just --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- claims he doesn't
remember anything. He says it might have been a giass that he was
drinking out of. He -- he's very --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Did you see it?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: It's a bite. It's a bite mark, right?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Not necessarily. And
there's dispute. The coroner says it could be; the pediatric doctor says
it doesn't look like it. There's no definitive teeth marks. You know, in
terms of normally you see the molars and things like that; that is not
visible. But that doesn't mean that it's not. And, you know, there's no
evidence of sexual assault or anything like that in the autopsy, so | don't
think it's a sexual thing. And really, you know, if he's in that fit of rage,
and he's using the soap, and throwing her around the shower, and
whatever else; if he's holding a glass, certainly it could have been a
glass. It could have been. You know, and -- and proving what exactly
was the implement, it doesn't really matter. You know at the end of the
day he killed her and -- and at least to me it doesn't matter what, you
know, exactly it was. His story is very clearly minimizing and trying to
not (inaudible).

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | don't understand --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Okay. All right.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: -- why he's doing that.
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 6
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LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: So whatever you do,
please do not touch him, okay? All right. Let's get this done. 1locked
myself out so we're going to have to call. We got to call it in 'cause | left
my keys in there. Oh, | don't like to take my stuff in with people like that
in case --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Absolutely.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- we're in a fight. | want
to at least have it be a fist fight instead of keys, and pens, and guns,
and ali that.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | can understand
(incomprehensible).

UNKNOWN OFFICER: Yes.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Hey, will you come let
me in the front door? 1 locked myself out.

UNKNOWN OFFICER: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Thank you.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Does he know I'm here?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yeah. | told him that
you want to talk to him. He said, "Good. 1 want to talk to her" so --
yeah. (Incomprehensible.)

Thank you, sir.

(Lieutenant Boruchowitz and Victoria Schlick enter the interview room.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Let me -- let me talk to
him with you in the room for one second befare you start and then you

can talk to him, okay?

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 7
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: You can have a seat
right there. Two things before you guys talk. Number one: since I'm
bringing her into the room, I'm making sure you understand that not that
she is my agent, but that the Miranda rights about having a lawyer
present, all that, still are applicable when you talk to her. Anything that
you say in front of me at any time can be used against you. So | just
have to make sure you're aware of that. And, obviously, so you're
aware that we're recording this as well. So, all right, go ahead.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Don't cry. Don't you fucking cry.

COLE ENGELSON: | don't know what to tell you.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: All | want is why.

COLE ENGELSON: | don't know what happened. | don't
know what --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So --

COLE ENGELSON: -- went down.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: -- don't -- that's a fucking lie. What
-- she was laying down for a -- she was laying down for her nap. What
did she do?

COLE ENGELSON: | know we went outside 'cause she
was crying when you left. Went outside, | had to smoke a cigarette.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Uh-huh.

COLE ENGELSON: She jumped up in that green chair
and she fell backwards. She was dirtier than hell, so | threw her in the

shower, and that's pretty much all | really remember the rest of the
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night. 1don't know what happened after that. 1 don't remember a single
thing. | got in that big jug of vodka and (incomprehensible).

VICTORIA SCHLICK: But | -- | saw that.

COLE ENGELSON: Do -- (incomprehensible) think it's -- |
don't want to say that ‘cause | know apology ain't shit. | just -- | lost out
on the love of my life, and | know | cost you your beautiful daughter,
and I'm sorry for everything, and | don't know what to do. And | don't
know what happened, and that's the worst part of all of it.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Was -- I --

COLE ENGELSON: 1 ruined a lot of -- a lot of -- shit. |
ruined everything. | mean -- and | don't know like - | don't know how |
can make anything better.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: You can't. Can you bring her

back?
COLE ENGELSON: No.
VICTORIA SCHLICK: Can you bring her back to me?
COLE ENGELSON: | wish [ could.
VICTORIA SCHLICK: So --
COLE ENGELSON: | wish | can give you more of an
explanation.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: How do you -- | don't -- | don't
believe you. That's -- it's -- you didn't -- you didn't black out. That's --
that what you drank is not enough. I've been around you and | know
how much you can take.

COLE ENGELSON: And how much did | drink

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-8332 9
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(incomprehensible)?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: That bottle? Like there's only that
much left. | -- [ mean when did you start drinking it? It was three hours
before Dwight (phonetic) got home. Three hours. He would -- did you
chug the bottle? i don't understand.

COLE ENGELSON: No. | was making vodka waters, and
| was making them stiff, half and half. You know, slamming them.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Why?

COLE ENGELSON: Victoria, | thought | needed a
nightcap to go to sleep. Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So you slammed a whole half a
fucking gallon of vodka? That's the nightcap for you?

COLE ENGELSON: No.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Wouldn't it -- | -- | don't understand.
I'll probably never understand. | don't understand you. | can't even --
she's gone because of you. Because of you. | hate you so much.

COLE ENGELSON: | know. And now you said --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: My kids, Nicole (phonetic) and
Dwight, saw her. They had to experience that. So not only | lost her,
they're in Vegas with their dad because of you.

COLE ENGELSON: You know it's all | been thinking
about the whole time in my days.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: What did you -- and -

COLE ENGELSON: You their mom and, you know,

everybody, and I'm --
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: You -- they show you pictures of
her body?

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. They did. And1--

VICTORIA SCHLICK: You whooped her ass. You put
hands on her.

COLE ENGELSON: No. {wasn't --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So bad so that -- well, | mean so
she fell in the dirt and that was the cause of that?

COLE ENGELSON: No.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Because --

COLE ENGELSON: 'Cause | -- like | don't --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So you put her in the -- you put her
in the shower and, what, she was fighting you?

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. We were, you know, going at
it where she don't like her face wait (phonetic) and, you know, that type
of shit. But)don't -- | don't know what happened where [ -- | would hit
her like that. | don't know what happened at all. There's not one
recollection of me even putting my hands up to her. |don't know what
happened.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: What -- | mean -- and then after
the shower, then what?

COLE ENGELSON: 1 don't remember anything. | don't
remember getting her out of the shower. | don't remember drying her
off. Like | told the other detective, | said usually when | dry her off | put

her up on the counter and that's when | get her going, then | just --
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: My makeup box is there so --

COLE ENGELSON: 1know. She went and looked. And
she was like, well, there's no footprints. So I don't know if | even dried
her off. | don't know anything. | don't know what happened. I'm sorry |
messed this up, and 'm sorry you lost your daughter. It's --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible.)

COLE ENGELSON: -- going to haunt me forever.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Good. | really hope it does.

COLE ENGELSON: It will. Like | said, | wish [ can tell
you more. You know, information's not there. | don't know what
happened.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | don't -- | don't believe any of that.
I've given her showers to where she was fighting, and never once did

she fall, or flail, or anything else like that. Not once. And if she did slip,

| caught her.

COLE ENGELSON: In our little shower?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah.

COLE ENGELSON: But she was trying to run out of there
like --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: What -- | mean there was so much
of a struggle. What happened with the soap that was hanging there?

COLE ENGELSON: | don't know.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: It's pulled apart is what it is. | don't
understand. | mean how did that -- | had to go back in there. | had to

fucking go and see everything again and relive it again.
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COLE ENGELSON: | don't know what the rope on --
soap on a rope?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah. That purple one that was
hanging.

COLE ENGELSON: | have no clue. No idea about it.
(Incomprehensible.} | don't.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So nothing is (incomprehensible).
Nothing. | don't --

COLE ENGELSON: 1 know.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | need you to give me something.
You're giving me nothing. | know. You're giving them what you gave
them.

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. It's all | have. | don't know if |
went to sleep afterwards or | stayed up the whole time. | don't
remember Dwight being there at all. 1 don't know anything. | don't
know anything.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: When did you -- when did you
come to? When did you start remembering again?

COLE ENGELSON: | -

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Obviously, when you told them |
was hitting you.

COLE ENGELSON: Before that. | didn't say you were
hitting me to like --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: No. |t --

COLE ENGELSON: -- get you in trouble or anything.

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 13
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: | know.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: 1know. | just --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: He told me.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- cautioned her not to
do the same thing again.

COLE ENGELSON: Ch.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible) anywhere right
now. 1 really don't want to go to jail so --

COLE ENGELSON: It's warranted, and | said it's
(incomprehensible). | deserved every one of them. My -- | -- | don't
know the information. 1 don't know what happened. The only thing |
know is when | came to, and saw her limp, and when | called you.
That's when my memory starts again. So | don't know if | woke up --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Why didn't you start CPR? Why
didn't you call 9117

COLE ENGELSON: | don't know. 1was so fucking drunk
§0 -

VICTORIA SCHLICK: You came to and you called me.

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: You were sober enough to call me.
Why didn't you call 9117

COLE ENGELSON: | didn't think of it first. | thought of
you first.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Did you even check her pulse?

Did you --
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COLE ENGELSON: No.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Anything?

COLE ENGELSON: | --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Anything? Nothing?

COLE ENGELSON: Nothing parent-wise. No. | didn'i do
anything correct. | was just trying to get her to snap out of it, you know,
s0 | hit her on the cheek a few times. Then | was, oh, no. Then that's
when | called you.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: And after you called me, didn't
think of maybe like checking her pulse or, [ mean, anything? Any -- her
-- of all the kids, her.

COLE ENGELSON: | know. | just --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: It's just what 1 don't understand.
She was the one you loved the most.

COLE ENGELSON: | knaw. | know. | -- | keep telling all
these detectives the same thing and they all {incomprehensible). | love
her, you know, and she was my -- my minion, like you always called
her, and --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: 1 keep telling myself | should have
laken her. She was crying for me to take her. This wouldn't have
happened. | hate you and you did this, but | blame myself ‘cause |
didn't take her.

COLE ENGELSON: No. |talked you out of it. And | think
you (incomprehensible).

VICTORIA SCHLICK: I'm so numb right now. |just--1
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can't --

COLE ENGELSON: | wish | can, you know, say more to
you, and 1 wish there was more | could do for you. It just gone. And
you're always going to hate me, and that hurts. But always know | -- |
love you and | wish this never came about.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: (Incomprehensible.)

COLE ENGELSON: | know. | know you don't and you
shouldn't.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: How am | going to live without her
now?

COLE ENGELSON: | know.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: And your son.

COLE ENGELSON: I know. He's probably going to go
live with his mom.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: She's on her way here. She's here
already.

COLE ENGELSON: All ready? 1 wish | would have
stayed on those pills. | always knew that fucking booze would ruin me.
| didn't know it was going to ruin everything around me too.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: All 1 can think right now is that
you're weak. You're so weak. Because you went two-and-a-half
months without those pills and your weak mind just ruining your life. I'm
out. | can't do this anymore. | don't want to.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: [l be right back

(incomprehensible).
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 16
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(Lieutenant Boruchowitz and Victoria Schlick leave the interview room.)
VICTORIA SCHLICK: Nothing. |don't believe him.
LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: You know him better

than | do. You feel like he's lying to you?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: | don't believe him.,

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: He's lying, right? Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: And he couldn't remember -- if he
was drinking that much and he could remember her falling over in the
chair and putting her in the shower, he's lying. Right. | know it.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Is the soap on the rope
still there?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah. | --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: 'Cause then Parra's
going to need to go back with her and {(incomprehensible).

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah. Okay. |saw thatand --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Is it --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: --it -- it --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- square or round?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: It's a -- it's a round one, like & oval
one. And it was -- you know how soap on a ropes are. You can't -- you
can't --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: And it's broken, and the rope is --

DETECTIVE PARRA: (incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yeah. We need --

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 17
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: That's the only thing that made me
like --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- to go accompany her
back home and grab it.

DETECTIVE PARRA: Yeah. I'm just going to go get my
keys and I'll just --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: I'm parked right out here.

DETECTIVE PARRA: Yeah. I'll follow you.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: She's at 5320 East

Manse.
DETECTIVE PARRA: Okay. lifollow you then.
VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay. What -- can | go see her?
LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Well, let's see. Which
mortuary was that?
VICTORIA SCHLICK: Are they going to let me?
LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: They'll let -- yeah. She's
done --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- working with her. So
you may want to wait and see if -- | don't know if she's been cleaned up,
how that works with the mortuary. You may want to wait 'til they do that
so you don't -- it is what it is. 1don't know that it looks any better made
up if it's (incomprehensible).

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Okay.
Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-9332 18

0440



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

#17NY-1964

VICTORIA SCHLICK

: {Incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: So -- and we'll let you

know as soon as we have more info. | just think based on his story

today there's no question the shower is -- is the incident, and he's being

not forthcoming of what exactly happened in there.

VICTORIA SCHLICK

. ldon't know. Yeah. | don't believe

it. if he could remember putting her in the shower, he didn't black out

after that.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: No. Obviousiy not.

VICTORIA SCHLICK

1 And | knew he was drinking more

than what he -- what he told you about this.

LIEUTENANT BORU
DETECTIVE PARRA

VICTORIA SCHLICK:
DETECTIVE PARRA:
VICTORIA SCHLICK:
DETECTIVE PARRA:
VICTORIA SCHLICK:

CHOWITZ: Right. Obviously.

: What are you driving?

It's a Nissan Maxima out here.
Okay. What color?

White.

Give me a second,

Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Thanks, Jose.

VICTORIA SCHLICK
LIEUTENANT BORU
VICTORIA SCHLICK

. Aliright, | guess --

CHOWITZ: All right.

: -- keep in touch with me.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: We'll keep you in touch.

Yeah. And the mortuary, you know, you can talk to them tomorrow

morning.
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VICTORIA SCHLICK: Right. Is it the one mortuary here?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | think it was Pahrump
Family Mortuary. I'll have him find out and we'll send you a text for
sure.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | can't remember which
one showed up. But if not, the other one -- they would tell you the
(incomprehensible) the other one, but --

VICTORIA SCHLICK: So there's only two in town?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Only two. Yeah.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Okay. So --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Thank you. i really appreciate it.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: No problem. Try and
hang in there.

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Thank you.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right. Your ride.
This is who's driving you?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: Yeah. He should be out -- out --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Somewhere?

VICTORIA SCHLICK: -- in the (incomprehensible).

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Bathroom, maybe? All
righty.

(Victoria Schlick leaves the area.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: I'm going to take a stab

Viam Transcription LLC  (702) 260-8332 20
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at him, and then I'l be right in.

MALE: He's not (incomprehensible).

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Stand by to stand by.
(Lieutenant Boruchowitz enters the interview room.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: How was that? You all
right?

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. I'm okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: You don't need to be in
suicide watch still?

COLE ENGELSON: No. |didn't need to be on in the first
place.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Okay. Nothing you
could remember. That rope on the soap -- or soap on the rope thing,
that jog your memory at all?

COLE ENGELSON: Not at all. And -- and when -- when
she said she had to go relive it, | wish | could see it again too. I've -- |
don't know if it would help or not, but | don't know if the string was just
ripped off or | don't -- | don't remernber anything like that either.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: You don't remember
hitting her with it or -

COLE ENGELSON: (Incomprehensible.) | was trying to
think of those bruises on her legs. Maybe that came 'cause of -- some
circle bruise that they were really concemed about.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Uh-huh. Is that soap on

a rope, is that circular?
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COLE ENGELSON: | {inaudible). | don't know. Don't
know if it's an oval one ‘cause | never use it.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Uh-huh.

COLE ENGELSON: | don't know. | wish [ could have
gave her more, you know.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHQWITZ: Yeah. Well, as the time
goes on I'm going to send my card back down there with you. Certainly
let me know if something comes up. I'm not going to tell you if you're a
fiar or not. I'm going to know that (inaudible) liar, that's not my style at
all. Obviously, there's people that are going to believe you're lying and
there's people that are going to believe you're telling the truth. Atthe
end of the day, | don't really care if you're lying, and at some point you
have a decision that you want to tell the truth, you can call me. And,
likewise, if you're not lying, and somehow it comes back to you, feel
free to -- to make sure that they know you want to talk to me as well.

COLE ENGELSON: Al right.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right? And my goal
is for you to come out of this as successful as possible.

COLE ENGELSON: Thank you.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Lousy situation. It sucks
no mafter what, But at the end of the day, you have a son that you
have to live for and, you know, you're going get a -- so at some point
you're going to get a letter, and you're going to have to make some
decisions. One of the biggest decisions you're going to have to make is

are you going to make her take the stand, and testify, and relive this.
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And a lot of people sit in this seat and say, no, I'm not going to do that
to her. But once you get a lawyer, and they tell you, look, we can fight it
and this is a hole in the police report, you know, a lot of people look at
their freedom and say I'm going to (incomprehensible) advice, and I'm
going to make her take the stand, and I'm going to make Dwight take
the stand, and I'm going to make Nicole take the stand. That's your
call. Al tell you is when you're laying --

COLE ENGELSON: {Incomprehensible.)

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: -- in your cell, make --
make things right. You've got a God that you can --

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. | haven't (incomprehensible).
Yeah.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: And -- and let's put, you
know, one day at a time here, really. But you have a God that -- to
make good with and you have a -- a son to make good with, and you
nead to worry about that. All right? And if there comes a point in time
where you do feel like you have a thought of hurting yourself or
anything substantial like that, be sure to let us know and we'li -- we'll
take care of you,

COLE ENGELSON: (Incomprehensible.}

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right?

COLE ENGELSON: 1 have to go to court soon, though.
Right?

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Tomorrow moming you

should go to court (incomprehensible).
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COLE ENGELSON: And --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: That'l be your first
appearance, and the judge will make a decision on your balil, etc., and
then the DA has seven days to file formal charges against you. And
then once those are filed, that starts the actual court proceedings.

COLE ENGELSON: And do | need to speak on my behalf
in front of the judge tomorrow or is it just --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Traditionally, with these
charges they'll probably have a court-appointed attorney they'll appoint
to you right then.

COLE ENGELSON: Okay.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: But that's up to the
judge. And really this hearing tomorrow is simply to determine bail. In
this case you have no bail because of the charge.

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Customarily, the judges
aren't inclined to change that with the first appearance. So | would
imagine your court will be two minutes of: you understand what you've
been charged with, yes; I'm recommending no bail, go back to jail.
Traditionally how it happens.

COLE ENGELSON: All right.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right? This is my
card. Let me grab the jail guy. I'll tum this off. I'm happy to not take
you back down there, and we'll get you changed back to regular clothes

and house. You're going to be held - housed in segregation because
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of the nature of your charges.

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | don't have a place to
put you in a pod with people that won't, you know, have a problem with
your charges s0 -- so you'll be in the (incomprehensible), and it's called
J Pod. There's a TV and stuff in there. But you'il be in there, and you'll
get out. They'll let you out for an hour out to have access to the kiosk
to visit with people and make phone calls (incomprehensible).

COLE ENGELSON: Okay. Nah. l'll figure out the rest as
we go.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Yeah. Another thing is
my jail staff will you help you along the way.

COLE ENGELSON: All right.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: Allright? Good luck to
you.

COLE ENGELSON: Thank you, David.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: | wish you -- | wish 1 saw
you under different circumstances.

COLE ENGELSON: Oh. (Incomprehensible) stay here.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: No. Ithink he -- { heard
keys, and he's probably right here. Yep. He sure is.

All right. He's all yours, and you can change him out and
house him in J Pod. Okay. Should be good to go.

All right. Good luck to you, Cole.

OFFICER GREG: (Incomprehensible.)
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LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: He is uncuffed
(incomprehensible).

COLE ENGELSON: Yeah. So --

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right. Greg, have a
good night. All right?

OFFICER GREG: (Incomprehensible) ane o'clock.

LIEUTENANT BORUCHOWITZ: All right.

(Lieutenant Boruchowitz leaves the interview room.)

I certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the
electronic audio recording with a length of 00:28:36 from the interview

in the above-entitled matter.

Amber Tubbs, Transcriptionist July 24, 2017
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Requester: C Sehnert
Blood Alcohol Testing Lab Case #: 17-06839 3
Subjectis): | Cole Engelson (Suspect)

I, Marlissa Collins, do hereby declare:

That | am a Foransic Scientist employed by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Depantment,

That | am a "chemist”, as defined in Nevada Revised Statute 50.320, and my duties include the analysis of the blood of a person to

determine the presence or quantification of alcohol;

That on February 23, 2016, | first qualified in the Justice Court of Clark Counly, Nevada, as an experl wilness, o lestify regarding

the presence and amount of alcoho! in a biological fluid.

That | received sealed evidence in the above case from a secure refrigerator in the LVMPD Forensic Laboratory, containing a

sample of whole blood;

That | completed an analysis on the sample from Blood/Alcohot Kit Engelson, Cole and determined that the blood contaned a
concentration of ethanol of 0.101 g/100mi +/- 0.004 g/100mI of blood.

NOTE: Limit of delection is 0.010 g ethanol/100 mi of bleod.

NOTE: A coverage probabilily of 99.7 3% was ulifized in the calculation of uncertainty (+/-) for the measuremeni(s) reporied abovs

Thal I sealed the evidence and placed it in a secure refrigerator in the LVMPD Forensic Laboratory,

That the evidence was in my custody from the time | first obtained it until | resealed the sample, at which time it was in

substantially the same condilion as when | first obtained it.

| declare under penally of penqury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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Mariissa Collins, #14973
Forensic Scientist

—This report does nol conslitute the entire case file. The case file may be comprised of worksheels, images, analytical data and
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Drug Screening/Confirmation
Subjectis): Cole Engelson (Suspect)

I, Nicole Van Aken, do hereby declare

That 1 am a Forensic Scientist I employed by the Las Vegas Metropalitan Police Department;

That | am a "chemist®, as defined in Nevada Revised Statute 50 320, and my duties include the analysis of the blocd of a person to
detemine the presence or quantification of a conirolled subslance, chemical or prohibited substance,

That on February 24, 2011, | first quatified in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada, as an expert wilness, to
testify regarding the presence and amount of alcehal in a biological fluid and that on February 24, 2011, | first quakfied in the Eighth
Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada as an experl wilness, to teslify regarding the presence and amount of controtled

substances in a bialogical Auid,

That | received a seated blood sample in the above case from a secure refrigerator in the LVMPD Forensic Laboratory,

That an Immunoassay Screen was completed on the sample Blood/Alcoho! Kit Engelson, Cale and the following was

determined;

Immunoassay Scraen

Drug Class Resulf
| Amphetamines none detected
| Benzodiazepines none detected
| _Cannabinoids further analysis performed. see Confirmation Analysis below
|_Cocaine none detected
Opiates none detected
Phencychdine (PCP) none detected

That | completed a Confirmation Analys s on the sample Blood/Alcohol Kit Engelson. Cole and the following was determined

Confirmation Analysis

Drug Class Drug Result
Cannabinoids Delta-9-felrahydrocannabino! none detected
Cannabinoids THC-Carboxylic Acid {Marijuana metabolite) | 20.8 ng/mL +- 3.6 ng/mlL

NOTE' A coverage probabililty of approximalely 95% was utilized in Ihe calculation of uricertainly {+/+) for the

measuremeni(s} reporied above.

That | sealed the evidence and placed it in a secure refrigeralor in the LVMPD Forensic Laboralory,

That the evidence was in my custody from the time 1| obtained it unti | resealed th

the same condition as when | first oblained it.

| declare under penalty of perjury thal the foregaing is true and correct

st Vo M

Nicole Van Aken, #14272
Forensic Scientist ||

--This report does not constitute the ent're case file  The case file ma

other documants —

Page 1
LVMPD Forensic Laboralory | 5605 W Badura Ave Suile 120 B | Las Vegas, NV 89118

BKT 102 - LAB Report-Released-(59746) pdf

@ sample, at which time it was in substantially

y be comprised of worksheets, images, analylical data and

vt 77



Primary Event # 17NY 1964
Lab Case # 17-06839 2

—'None delected” indicales the drug/metabolile is nat present above the reporting threshold. —

—Reporting thresholds as applicable

Immuncassay Screen.

Drug Class Regorting Thrashold
Amphetamines 80 ng/ml,
Benzodiazepines 100 ng/mL
Cannabinoids 10 ng/mL
Cocaine 100 ng/mL
Opiates 100 ng/mL
Phencyclidine (PCP} 10 ng/mL

Confirmation Analysis.

Drug Class Begoring Threshotd
Amphetamines
Amphetamine 100 ng/mL
Methamphelamine $00 ng/mL
Methylenedioxyamphetammne (MDA) 100 ng/mL
Methylenedioxymethamphetarm ne (MDMA) 100 ng/mL
Benzodiazepines
Alprazolam 28 ng/mlL
Clonazepam 25 ng/ml
Diazepam 25 ng/mL
Lorazepam 25 ngimL
Oxazepam 25 ng/mL
Nordiazepam 25 ng/mL
Yemazepam 25 ng/mL
Triazolam 25 ng/mL
Cannabinoids
Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol {THC) 2 ng/mL
THC-Carboxylic Acid {Marjuana melabolite) 5 ng/mL
Cocaine
Cocaine 50 nghmlL
Benzoylecgonine 50 ng/mL
Opiates
Codeine 50 ng/mL
Morphine 50 ng/mL
Hydrocodone 25 ng/mL
Phencyclidine {PCP) 10 ng'mL
Soma
Carisoprodol 1000 ng/mL
Meprobamate 10C0 ng/mL
- END OF REPORT -
Page 2 of 2

LVMPD Forensic Laboralory | 5605 W Badura Ave Suile 120 B | Las Vegas, NV 89118

PKT 2 0! 2 - LAB Repod-Released (59746) pdf
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P.O. BOX 39
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

I, Renne McKeen, Executive Legal Secretary, Office of the Nye County District
Attorney, Post Office Box 39, Pahrump, Nevada 89041, do hereby certify that | have
served the following:

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION

TO SUPPRESS DEFENDANT’S STATEMENTS in

5T™H JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT Case No. CR9226

STATE v. COLE D. ENGELSON

upon said Defendant herein by placing a true and correct copy thereof, in their folder

at the Pahrump District Attorney’s Office, on ﬁ(%ﬁ/&ﬂﬁ to the following:

DANIEL MARTINEZ; AND
RONNI BOSKOVICH
Defense Counsel for Cole Engelson

Sy e

Renne McKeen
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Case No. CR_9226

Dept. 2
IN THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE
STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE
STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, - , :
COURT ORDER
Vs,

COLE D. ENGELSON,

Defendant.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Prior Bad Acts on November 25, 2019 and an Errata
on December 3, 2019. Defendant filed an Opposition on April 29, 2020.
A hearing on the Motion was held on July 6, 2020. This Order follows.

L LAW

The State requests' Prior Bad Acts be admitted pursuant to NRS 48.045(2):
(2) Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the
character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith.

It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive,

opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of
mistake or accident.

The State cites Bolin v. State, 114 Nev. 503 (1998), interpreting NRS 48.045(2),
where the Nevada Supreme Court set forth that to be admissible the evidence must be
relevant, clear and convincing, and “the probative value of the evidence [must not be]

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Id. 517. “The trial court’s
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o determination will not be overturned absent manifest error.” Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev,
3 46, 52 (1985).
4 Pursuant to Ledbetter v. State, 122 Nev. 252 (2006) the court should give the
5 appropriate limiting instruction prior to the testimony of each witness, “both at the time of
admission and again when the case is submitted to the jury” if the evidence is ruled
7
admissible. The State cites Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725 at 733 (2001):
8
We are also convinced that a limiting instruction should be given both at
9 the time evidence of the uncharged bad act is admitted and in the trial court's
E . 10 final charge to the jury. As one leading commentator has stated:
o u
f % 11 [An instruction given at the time of admission] can be directed specifically
= 3 at the evidence in question and can take effect before the jury has been
& "Ef 12 accustomed to thinking of it in terms of the inadmissible purpose.
= 0 13 Instructions given at the end of the case will be more abstract, may apply to
g < a number of items of evidence, and are buried in a mass of other
¥ g 14 instructions.
8 g
2 & -
B z 15 Therefore, to maximize the effectiveness of the instructions, we hold that
E‘ v the trial court should give the jury a specific instruction explaining the
16

purposes for which the evidence is admitted immediately prior to its
admission and should give a general instruction at the end of trial reminding
the jurors that certain evidence may be used only for limited purposes.

II. ARGUMENT

The State argues that this court should allow.the jury to see and hear the following
1 items with the appropriate limiting jury instruction. The State submits the items should be

oo}  seen in the totality of the case, possibly res gestae, including statements made by the
23fF defendant and other witnesses.

24 A. PHOTOS FROM DEFENDANT’S PHONE

0519




—

2
3 The State recovered photos from the defendant’s phone of the child, Yessenia,
4 hurt and in distress. The State submits that the photos combined with Victoria’s
5 explanation of when and where they were taken, and what the defendant himself told her
6 about them, are admissible. The State submits that on April 3, 2017 an incident occurred
_; when the defendant was watching Yessenia, by himself, babysitting for Victoria in Las
9 Vegas. Inthe State’s Brief, page 3, the State argues “Victoria, Yessenia’s mother will
E " 10 explain that the defendant was home alone with Yessenia, like in the case before the
e u :
E % 11 court, that he had been drinking, like in the case before the court, that he had given her
E g 12 a shower, like in the case before the court, and that while brushing her hair while she
g 2 13 was standing on the counter after getting out of the shower, like in the case before the
E % 14 court, she “fell” and injured her chin.” The State continues and states that “[y]Jou will
g i ::Z hear Detective Alexandra Fernandez testify that in this case, according to the defendant,
17 Yessenia was fine when he put her in the shower, fine when she got out of the shower,
-18}—he put-heron thecounter, began totowel her off, and she just went limp, he doesn’t
19 know what happened. The court will see the pictures, as exhibits, of an injured, hurt,
20 crying, distressed little girl, Yessenia, recovered by Chris DeFonseka from the
21 defendant’s phone after Yessenia died. Victoria will describe what she knows regarding
22 each of those photographs.” Further, the State provided that the court will have as an
Zj exhibit, supporting medical docmnentaﬁon.
25 The defense argues the prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value; that
26 it is being used to inflame the jury; they are not close in time; do not demonstrate a
27
28
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pattern; that they were not reported at the time; that the medical staff did not report it;
that the mother spanks the kids; that injuries are not similar; that the child fell.

After reviewing the pleadings and arguments made at the hearing, the Court finds
it appropriate to order a Petrocelli hearing be scheduled prior to trial for the State’s

witnesses to submit clear and convincing evidence to meet the standards of Bolin v. State

cited above.

B. DRAGGING OVER THE ROCKS

The State submits on page 2 of their brief that Kishanna Marquez will testify to
what she saw and heard. The State states that Kishanna “observed the defendant
dragging Yessenia through rocks while he was “babysitting” and Victoria was at work at
Albertsons. Kishanna heard Yessenia screaming, she looked out the window aﬁd saw the
defendant dragging Yessenia by the ann through the rocks. She confronted the defendant

who explained his conduct by saying that Yessenia, the two-year-old child (at the time)

had thrown a rock at him. Yessenia then cried for Kishanna who picked her up, took her
into the house, and cleaned her up. Kishanna told Victoria that the defendant should not
be left alone with Yessenia, that he can’t handle her. The incident occurred before the
December 29, 2016 visit to Kidfixers, she remembered a Christmas tree being in the
residence they shared and thinks it happened just before Thanksgiving.”

The State adds on page 3 of their brief that they will use the medical records and
observations of Dr. John Lapore, DO, from Kidfixers, a pediatric office in Las Vegas

where Yessenia had been taken by her mother Victoria on December 29, 2016,
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documenting what appeared to be abuse, “contusions” on her legs. Victoria will tell you

2
3 that she was told the injuries were from a “hard hitting beating.” Dr. Lapore told her to
4 keep an eye on Yessenia, and if Victoria saw any more bruises to bring Yessenia back
g
1 and he would call the authorities.
6
‘ The defense argues the prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value; that
- ,
8 it is being used to inflame the jury; they are not close in time; do not demonstrate a
9 pattern; that they were not reported at the time; that the medical staff did not report it;
E o 10 that the mother spanks the kids; that injuries are not similar.
o u
¢ .
E % 11 After reviewing the pleadings and arguments made at the hearing, the Court finds
20
B g 12] it appropriate to order a Petrocelli hearing be scheduled prior to trial for the State’s
(=
3 E 13 witnesses to submit clear and convincing evidence to meet the standards of Bolin v. State
= .
23 14|l
s cited above.
=z 15 |
E . 16 Pursuant to the above explanations, good cause appearing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a Petrocelli heating be scheduled for the State

—to present their witrresses o these Taiters.

DATED this E ; day of July, 2020.

22 * District Court Judge
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CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE

=
The undersigned hereby certifies that on theg_ day of July, 2020, he mailed copies

of the foregoing Court Order to the following:

NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
1520 E. BASIN AVE.

PAHRUMP, NV 89060

(HAND DELIVERED)

' DANIEL MARTINEZ, ESQ.; AND

RONNI BOSKOVICH, ESQ.
3340 South Hwy. 160, Suite 202
Pahrump, NV 89048

Jg_d K. L;%xigésq. g W'

Law Clerk to Judge Robert W. Lan¢

AFFIRMATION —

The undersigned hereby affirms that this Court Order does not contain the social

security number of any person.
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Case No. CR9226 GLL ity
Dept. 2 o ‘

-dudy Ayore

IN THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE
STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE

STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,
COURT ORDER

VS.
COLE D. ENGELSON,

Defendant.

Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress on June 4, 2020. The State filed an

Opposition on June 12,2020. A hearing was held on July 6, 2020. This Order follows.

I. Detective Fernandez

_ — Defendant argues that Miranda-was required at the Startof Questioning by —

Detective Fernandez upon first contact because it was a custodial interrogation. (Defense
Brief p. 8) The‘ State argues Fernandez asked non-custodial questions upon arrival at the
scene to learn what was going on. (State’s Brief p. 10) The Court heard argument at the
hearing and ruled the statements would not be suppressed.

Defendant also argues the statements made after Fernandez read the Miranda
warning should be suppressed because the waiver was not voluntary, knowing and

intelligent, due to intoxication. (Defense Brief p.9) The State argued that the Court
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should review the transcript and/or recording, and would determine that his Miranda
walver was vbluntary, knowing and intelligent, and that the intoxication wa;s, not -
sufficient to suppress pursuant to Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019, 1038 (2006);
Chambers v. State, 113 Nev. 974, 981 (1997); State v. Taylor, 114 Nev. 1071, 1082
(1998), referencing United States v. Jones, 21 F.3d 165, 170 (1994); Taylor v. State, 96
Nev. 385, 386 (1980); State v. Hall, 54 Nev.-213, 234,235 (1932); Pickworth v. State, 95
Nev. 547, 549 (1979); and Tucker v. State, 92 Nev. 486, 488 (1976). (State’s Brief p. 8-
11.)

Having reviewed the transcript of the post Miranda interview by Fernandez, the
Court concurs with the State that the waiver was voluntary, knowing and intelligent, and

denies the Motion to Suppress these statements.

II. Detectives Cox, Fancher and Gibbs

Defendant argues his waiver was not voluntary, knowing and intelligent due to

} - —intoxication; ablood draw; fatigue frofmsleep deprivation; menital state disarray anda

suicide smock; a four hour interview; accusing, calling him a liar, and pressuring him.
(Defense brief p. 9-10) The State argues Defendant spoke with the detectivesin a
logical, rational, relatable manner, and that the Court should review the transcript and/or

recording to determine if the waiver was voluntary, knowing and intelligent. (State’s

Briefp. 11.)
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Having reviewed the transcript of the post Miranda interview by Cox, Fancher
and Gibbs, the Court concurs with the State that the waiver was voluntary, knowing and

intelligent, and denies the Motion to Suppress these statements.

IIl. Captain Boruchowitz

Defense argues the Prior Miranda warning was sfcale, even more so when
combined w1th the factors set forth above, citing Koger v. State, 117 Nev. 138 14117
P.3d 428, 430 (2001), and Taylor v. State, 96 Nev. 385, at 386, 609 P.2d 1218, 1239
(1980). (Defense Brief p. 7, 10) The State argues that Boruchowitz did not need to re-
Mirandize, citing Tayior v. State, 96 Nev. 385, at 386 (1980), and notes that “although
Boruchowitz did not need to re-Mirandize the defendant, he reminded the defendant of
his rights, two more times, once during his private conversation with the defendant, and
again when Victoria met with the defendant while he was present.” (State’s Brief p. 9,

11-12)

S '—HavirrgTeviewed'thc"transcript,—the Court concurs withthe State tharthe prior —

warning was not stale, and denies the Motion to Suppress these statements. -
Further, Defendant claims that his waiver of Miranda for use by Boruchowitz was
not Voluntary, Knowingly and Intelligently entered. This issue was addressed in item I

above and is denied.
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Therefore, based upon the above analysis,

2
3 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion to Suppress is denied.
Y
4} DATED this 8 day of July, 2020.
5
6
7 District Court Judge
8
9
=
g, 10
5
n o5 11
2 8
Ey 12
5 Z
; 2 13
8 5
g 3 14
o #
= ou
E hz’i 15
= 16
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CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE

) ) o
The undersigned hereby certifies that on the & day of July, 2020, he mailed copies

of the foregoing Court Order to the following:

NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
1520 E. BASIN AVE.,

PAHRUMP, NV 89060

(HAND DELIVERED)

DANIEL MARTINEZ, ESQ.; AND
RONNI BOSKOVICH, ESQ.

3340 South Hwy. 160, Suite 202
Pahrump, NV 89048

Jared K. Lafd, Esq.
Law Clerk to Judge Robert W. Lane

anepcx sty

AFFIRMATION

The undersigned hereby affirms that this Court Order does not contain the social

security number of any person.

JYared K. IAm, Esq
Law Clerk to Judge Robert W Lane

0528




	Cover Sheet 3
	Appendix Table of Contents
	Volume 3



